A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The court erred by failing to instruct the jury that it 

must be unanimous as to the alternative means of committing 

possession with intent. 

2. The court erred by denying the defense objection to 

giving the jury instruction defining possession with intent to 

manufacture. 

3. The jury erred by convicting Mak of maintaining a 

vehicle for drug trafficking without sufficient evidence to support the 

conviction. 

4. The trial court erred by denying Mak's motion for a 

directed verdict finding him not guilty of maintaining a vehicle for 

drug trafficking. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. Whether Mak's constitutional right to a unanimous 

jury verdict was violated where jurors were not required to agree on 

whether their conviction for unlawful possession with intent was 

based on the alternative means of manufacturing or delivery and 

there was insufficient evidence of intent to manufacture. 

2. Whether the jury erred by convicting Mak of 

maintaining a vehicle for drug trafficking where there was no 
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evidence that the car was ever used for illegal drug activity other 

than this one time. 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In January of 2011, undercover border-control agent Seim 

DelaCruz began posing as a high-level drug dealer in phone calls 

and meetings with Jeffrey Huynh. 1RP 61-62.1 Huynh presented 

himself as a would-be "middle man," who was attempting to broker 

the sale of cocaine. 1 RP 61. 

Huynh and DelaCruz talked for months by phone and had 

one face-to-face meeting without reaching an agreement because 

Huynh was unable to come up with the money. 1RP 63, 66-67, 69. 

In their first meeting in February of 2011, Agent DelaCruz 

understood that Huynh was bringing the buyer with him. 1 RP 67, 

75. The man Huynh brought was not identified, but it was not Mak. 

1 RP 114. They looked at the cocaine DelaCruz proposed to sell, 

but did not make the purchase. 1 RP 77, 79. 

Huynh continued to call DelaCruz, discussing different 

buyers and different amounts for the deal ranging from one kilo to 

1 For purposes of this brief, the report of proceedings will be cited as 
follows: the four volumes numbered sequentially will be referred to 
as 1RP, 2RP, etc; the remaining volumes will be cited by date, i.e., 
2/10/12 RP. 
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five kilos. 1 RP 114-15, 2RP 108, 152-53. Huynh never mentioned 

names and DelaCruz only met two of the potential "buyers." 1 RP 

120, 3RP 14-15. He thought there were at least three different 

"buyers" Huynh talked with in attempting to put together a deal. 

1RP 114-115. 

The first time DelaCruz met Raymond Mak or heard his 

name was on May 20, the second meeting Huynh had arranged. 

1 RP 83. Huynh called DelaCruz and said they were "ready" and 

had $42,000 for two kilos of cocaine. 2RP 115. When DelaCruz 

arrived at the meeting place, a local restaurant, Huynh was at a 

table with Mak and a man identified as Jiayin Lin. 2RP 126, 3RP 

73. 

Huynh asked to talk with DelaCruz alone outside first. 

Huynh confirmed with DelaCruz that he would get a broker's fee 

for the transaction of $4,000 and that he wanted to work with 

DelaCruz on future deals. 2RP 126-27. Huynh said he had 

buyers who would buy three to five kilos every other week. 2RP 

127. 

When they returned to the table, DelaCruz told the men he 

wanted to see the money. 2RP 130. He followed Huynh and Mak 
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into the bathroom, where Huynh pulled the rolls of cash from his 

jacket to show him. 2RP 130. 

Mak then asked DeLaCruz to show them the cocaine. 2RP 

132. DeLaCruz walked Mak to his car, opened the trunk, and 

showed Mak the two kilos of cocaine. 2RP 133. Mak picked up the 

top package and looked at it. 2RP 134. 

As they walked back to the restaurant, Mak and DeLaCruz 

discussed the possibility of future deals. 2RP 135. DeLaCruz 

suggested they work directly and cut Huynh out, and they 

exchanged cell numbers. 2RP 135. 

Mak and DeLaCruz returned to the restaurant, then they and 

Huynh went back to DeLaCruz's car to make the exchange. 2RP 

141-42. Huynh handed over the money and Mak took the drugs. 

2RP 141-43. While DeLaCruz counted out Huynh's "fee," Mak 

walked away with the two kilos under a coat. 2RP 143-44. Mak 

walked back toward the restaurant and stopped to talk with Lin, 

who was standing outside the restaurant. 2RP 143-44. The men 

exchanged words and Lin gestured toward Mak's car. 3RP 53. 

Mak then placed the drugs in the trunk, got in, and drove away. 

2RP 143-44. He was arrested a few blocks away. 2RP 149. The 

two kilos of cocaine were recovered from the trunk of the car. 2RP 
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187, 190. No other drugs were found. 3RP 83, 107. Mak had no 

cash on him or in his vehicle. 4RP 5. 

Huynh went to Lin's car and they were arrested before they 

could leave. 3RP 60-61. Huynh had $4,000 in cash on him at the 

time of arrest. 3RP 183. Lin had a receipt for a cash withdrawal of 

$6,000, but only $285 in cash on him. 4RP 5. 

At the close of the State's case, Mak moved for a directed 

verdict of not guilty on the charge of maintaining a vehicle for drug 

trafficking, arguing that there was no evidence that the vehicle was 

maintained for the purpose of drug trafficking. 4RP 48-49. The 

court denied the motion. 4RP 49. 

Mak also objected to the State's proposed instructions 

relating to the alternative means for possession with intent to 

manufacture. 4RP 62. Mak argued that there was no evidence to 

support the charge. 4RP 62. The State argued that the jury should 

be instructed on intent to manufacture because the police 

witnesses had testified that cocaine was commonly cut down to 

increase profit. 4RP 63. The instructions were given over the 

defense objection. 4RP 63. 
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The prosecutor then argued in closing argument that the jury 

could convict Mak of possession with intent to manufacture, or 

possession with intent to deliver. 4RP 81, 85-86. 

Mak was convicted of possession with intent to manufacture 

or deliver a controlled substance, cocaine; conspiracy to possess 

with intent to manufacture or deliver a controlled substance; and 

maintaining a vehicle for drug trafficking. CP 53-55. The jury also 

returned special verdicts finding the "major drug violation" 

aggravator. CP 56-57. 

Mak had no prior convictions. CP 61. His standard ranges 

were: for possession with intent and conspiracy, twelve to twenty 

months; for maintaining a vehicle for drug trafficking, zero to twelve 

months. CP 62-63. The court sentenced Mak to an exceptional 

sentence of 96 months on counts one and two, concurrent with a 

sentence of twenty months on count three. CP 63, 2/10/12 RP 37. 

This appeal timely follows. CP 89-90. 
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C. ARGUMENT 

1. MAK'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A 
UNANIMOUS JURY VERDICT WAS VIOLATED 
BECAUSE JURORS WERE NOT REQUIRED TO 
AGREE ON WHETHER THEIR CONVICTION FOR 
UNLAWFUL POSSESSION WITH INTENT WAS 
BASED ON THE ALTERNATIVE MEANS OF 
MANUFACTURING OR DELIVERY. 

Criminal defendants in Washington have a right to 

unanimous jury verdicts. Wash. Const., art. I, § 21. This includes 

"the right to express jury unanimity on the means by which the 

defendant is found to have committed the crime." State v. Ortega-

Martinez, 124 Wn.2d 702, 707, 881 P.2d 231 (1994). A violation is 

harmless only if sufficient evidence exists to support each of the 

alternative means presented to the jury. Ortega-Martinez, 124 

Wn.2d at 707-8. 

"If the evidence is insufficient to support both means, either 

the prosecutor must elect the means supported by the evidence, or 

the court must instruct the jury to rely on that means during 

deliberations." State v. Gonzales, 133 Wn. App. 236, 243, 148 

P.3d 1046 (2006), citing State v. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 403, 409, 756 

P.2d 105 (1988). The Supreme Court has made it clear that "an 

instruction on jury unanimity as to the alternative method found is 

preferable because it eliminates potential problems which may 
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arise when one of the alternatives is not supported by substantial 

evidence." State v. Whitney, 108 Wn.2d 506, 511, 739 P.2d 1150 

(1987); see also Ortega-Martinez, 124 Wn.2d at 717, n. 2. The 

failure to provide the required unanimity instruction in such 

circumstances requires reversal of the verdict. State v. Klimes, 117 

Wn. App. 758, 770, 73 P.3d 416 (2003); Ortega-Martinez, 124 

Wn.2d at 708. 

Evidence is not sufficient to support a conviction unless, 

after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, 

any rational trier of fact could find all of the elements of the crime 

charged beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. DeVries, 149 Wn.2d 

842, 849, 72 P.3d 748 (2003). 

Mr. Mak was charged with violating RCW 69.50.401 by 

possession of a controlled substance with intent to manufacture or 

delivery of a controlled substance, cocaine. CP 10. Both 

alternative means were submitted to the jury in the "to convict" 

instruction, both delivery and manufacture were defined, and the 

State argued both alternative means to the jury in closing 

argument. CP 32, 33, 37, 38; 4RP 81, 85-86. However, the jury 

-8-



was not instructed that it must unanimously agree on which 

alternative means to base a guilty verdict.2 

Here, the State did not present sufficient evidence to 

establish one of the alternative means beyond a reasonable doubt: 

that Mr. Mak was guilty of possession with intent to manufacture 

cocaine. In closing argument, the State argued to the jury that it 

could find Mr. Mak guilty of possession with intent to manufacture 

because Agent DelaCruz and Agent Belanger testified to "what 

you can do with two kilograms of cocaine," specifically that it is 

sometimes cut down to increase the profit. 4RP 85. 

Agent DelaCruz testified that he was representing the two 

kilos of cocaine he was offering to sell as cocaine that had been 

"stepped on," or diluted. 1 RP 80. He suggested that cocaine can 

be diluted by mixing it with various other additives such as baby 

2 Mr. Mak's trial counsel did not specifically request a unanimity 
instruction below. However, she did object to the instructions 
including manufacture as an alternative means, arguing that there 
was insufficient evidence to support giving these instructions to the 
jury. 4RP 62-63. The court overruled the objection and gave the 
instructions proposed by the State, including both alternative means. 
4RP 63. Consequently, the trial court was alerted to the problem 
even though the defense did not request a unanimity instruction. 
Nevertheless, a unanimous jury is a constitutional right. It is a 
manifest constitutional error and the record is sufficient for review. 
Therefore, this issue can be raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 
2.5. 
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powder and vitamin powder. 1 RP 80. Both Agent DelaCruz and 

Agent Belanger also testified that it was "common" for cocaine to be 

"stepped on" as it works its way down to the street. 1 RP 82; 2RP 

18-19. The purpose of this is to increase profit. 2RP 19. Agent 

Belanger testified that this is done by mixing a cutting agent with 

the cocaine in mixing bowls with acetone. 2RP 19-20. 

However, while both agents testified that cocaine could be 

"stepped on," there is no evidence whatsoever that there was a 

plan to do that in this case. Neither Mak nor Huynh ever said 

anything about "stepping on" the cocaine. No acetone or mixing 

bowls were found. Merely having the police speculate about 

manufacturing in the drug industry does not provide any evidence 

that Mak or Huynh formed the intent to manufacture in this case. 

There was insufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable 

doubt that the cocaine was possessed with intent to manufacture. 

Because there was insufficient evidence of one of the 

alternative means of committing possession with intent, and the jury 

was not instructed that it must be unanimous, Mr. Mak's 

constitutional right to a unanimous jury was violated and his 

conviction for possession with intent to manufacture or qeliver must 

be reversed. See Ortega-Martinez, 124 Wn.2d at 708. 
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2. THERE IS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT 
THE CONVICTION FOR MAINTAINING A VEHICLE 
FOR DRUG TRAFFICKING. 

Under the state and federal constitutions, a criminal 

conviction requires proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Jackson v. 

Virgina, 443 U.S. 307, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560, 99 S. Ct. 2781 (1979); 

State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). As 

stated above, evidence is not sufficient to support a conviction 

unless, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the 

State, any rational trier of fact could find all of the elements of the 

crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. DeVries, 149 

Wn.2d 842, 849, 72 P.3d 748 (2003). The court must consider 

'"whether the totality of the evidence is sufficient to prove all the 

required elements."' State v. Marin, 150 Wn. App. 434, 438, 208 

P.3d 1184 (2009), quoting State v. Ceglowski, 103 Wn. App. 346, 

349-50, 12 P.3d 160 (2000). 

Mr. Mak was charged with maintaining a vehicle for drug 

trafficking under RCW 69.50.402(1)(f). CP 10-12. Mr. Mak moved 

for a directed verdict on this count at the close of evidence, arguing 

that there was no evidence that this vehicle was maintained for 
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drug trafficking. 4RP 48-49. The court denied the motion. 4RP 49. 

The jury subsequently convicted. CP 55. 

RCW 69.50.402(1 )(f) provides in relevant part that it is 

unlawful for a person: 

[k]nowingly to keep or maintain any ... dwelling, ... 
vehicle ... or other structure or place, which is 
resorted to by persons using controlled substances in 
violation of this chapter for the purpose of using these 
substances, or which is used for keeping or selling 
them in violation of this chapter. 

This statute is sometimes referred to as the "drug house 

statute." See State v. Ceglowski, 103 Wn. App. 346, 349, 12 P.3d 

160 (2000). Washington caselaw holds that for a conviction under 

this statute, the State must provide "some evidence that the drug 

activity was continuing and recurring in nature and that a 

substantial purpose in the maintenance of the vehicle was to 

conduct illegal drug activities." Marin, 150 Wn. App. at 438-39, 

citing Ceglowski, 103 Wn. App. at 349-50. The Ceglowski court 

reasoned, although the statute does not expressly state whether a 

single instance of sale or possession is enough for a conviction: 

The requirement that the defendant "maintain" the premises, 

however, necessarily connotes a course of continuing conduct. 

Although "maintain" is not specifically defined under the drug house 
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statute, '"[i)n the absence of a statutory definition of a word, we 

employ the plain and ordinary meaning of the word as found in a 

dictionary.'" State v. Batten, 95 Wash.App 127, 129, 974, P.2d 879 

(1999), affd, 140 Wash.2d 362, 997 P.2d 350 (2000) (citation 

omitted). Black's Law Dictionary defines "maintain" as "hold or 

preserve in any particular state or condition;" and "sustain" or 

"uphold." BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 953 (7th ed.1999). And the 

ordinary meaning of "maintain" encompasses this concept of 

continuing conduct: "to keep or keep up; continue in or with; carry 

on." WEBSTER'S NEW WORLD DICTIONARY, 854 (2d College 

Ed.1976). 

Ceqlowski, 103 Wn. App. at 350-51. 

There was no evidence in this case that the vehicle had 

been used for drug transactions on any occasion other than this 

one, where Mak placed the cocaine in the trunk of the car. Thus, 

there was no evidence beyond this "single isolated incident," which 

is not enough to show that Mr. Mak "maintains" the vehicle for 

keeping or selling a controlled substance. See State v. Ceglowski, 

103 Wn. App. at 350. 

In Ceglowski, the court held that evidence that a single drug 

sale occurred at the business, along with handwritten "pay and 
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owe" sheets that may or may not have been drug records, was 

insufficient to show that other sales took place on the premises or 

that a substantial purpose for maintaining the business was drug 

activity. 103 Wn. App. at 353-54. The court reversed Ceglowski's 

conviction under RCW 69.50.402(1 )(f). 

The holding in Ceglowski applies with equal force to cases 

involving maintaining a vehicle for drug trafficking purposes. State 

v. Marin, 150 Wn. App. 434, 438-39, 208 P.3d 1184 (2009). In 

Marin, the evidence showed that: the defendant had possessed the 

vehicle for several days; a scale and drugs packaged for street 

resale were found inside; and, a hidden compartment had recently 

been constructed inside, which the narcotics dog alerted on. 150 

Wn. App. at 439. In addition, a police expert testified that based on 

the above, it was his belief that the vehicle was being used for drug 

trafficking. Marin, at 439. The court held that this was sufficient to 

support Marin's conviction for maintaining a vehicle for drug 

trafficking. ld., at 439-440. 

In this case, there was nothing found in the vehicle to 

indicate it had been used before or would be used in the future for 

illegal drug activity. No drugs were found in the car other than the 

two kilos purchased here. No money was found. No scales or 
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packaging was found. The car had not been altered in any way to 

make hiding places for drugs. Like Ceglowski, the evidence 

presented here of only one isolated use of the vehicle for the 

transport of drugs is insufficient to prove the vehicle was 

"maintained" for the purpose of illegal drug activity. Mr. Mak's 

conviction for maintaining a vehicle for drug trafficking must be 

reversed. 

D. CONCLUSION 

Mak's conviction for unlawful possession must be reversed 

because the court's failure to instruct the jury that it must be 

unanimous as to the alternative means violated his constitutional 

right to a unanimous jury verdict. In addition, Mak's conviction for 

maintaining a vehicle for drug trafficking must be reversed because 

there is insufficient evidence to support the conviction.