I. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Raymond Mak was convicted of possessiOn with intent to 

manufacture or deliver a controlled substance, conspiracy to deliver a 

controlled substance and maintaining a vehicle for drug trafficking after he 

purchased two kilograms of cocaine from an undercover officer. 

Mak contends possession with intent to manufacture or deliver is an 

alternative means crime and there was insufficient evidence of possession 

with intent to manufacture or deliver. Possession with intent to manufacture 

or deliver is not an alternative means offense as both manufacture and 

delivery address the same subject. In addition, given the cost and purity of 

the kilogram of cocaine purchased, and the expert testimony of the officers 

about the purpose of purchasing that amount, there was sufficient evidence 

for a jury to conclude there was the intent to process or package the cocaine. 

Mak also contends evidence was insufficient to show he maintained 

the vehicle for drug trafficking. However, Mak actually put the kilograms 

purchased into his vehicle where it was located by officers, and Mak had 

arranged for the future kilograms from the undercover officer, showing his 

vehicle to the dealer while cutting out the middleman. This is sufficient 

evidence to show his vehicle was kept for drug trafficking. 

The appeal must be denied and the convictions affirmed. 
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II. ISSUES 

1. Is possession with intent to manufacture or deliver a controlled 

substance a crime with alternative means of manufacture or 

delivery? 

2. Where two kilograms of pure cocaine is purchased for $42,000, 

and expert testimony is presented that the drug is purchased to be 

processed and repackaged to make money, was there sufficient 

evidence to support a jury finding the drugs were possessed with 

intent to manufacture? 

3. Where two kilograms of cocaine are placed in a vehicle to be 

driven from the scene of a drug delivery by a person who has 

asked the undercover officer to engage in future drug deals, was 

there sufficient evidence the vehicle was kept to hold drugs? 

III. STATEMENTOFTHECASE 

1. Statement of Procedural History 

On May 24,2011, Raymond Mak was charged with Possession with 

Intent to Manufacture or Deliver Cocaine, Conspiracy to Deliver a 

Controlled Substance, and Maintaining a Vehicle for Drug Trafficking all 

alleged to have occurred on May 20, 2011. CP 1-3. The State provided a 
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notice of intent to seek an exceptional sentence based upon the major 

violation of the uniform controlled substances act. CP 1-3. 

Jeffrey Huynh arranged with an undercover police officer to buy 

drugs. CP 6. The deal was discussed at a Mount Vernon restaurant with 

Mak and Huynh present. CP 6-7. After exchanging the money, the 

undercover officer gave two kilograms of cocaine and smaller bag of cocaine 

to Mak. CP 7. Mak concealed the cocaine in the trunk of his vehicle. CP 7. 

Officers stopped the vehicle a short distance away. CP 7. Mak and Huynh 

were arrested. CP 7. Mak stated he thought selling narcotics would be an 

easy way for him to make money. CP 7. A search warrant executed on the 

vehicle revealed the bag with cocaine, the jacket used to conceal the money, 

and numerous cell phones. CP 8. 

On January 17, 2012, the State amended the information to clarify 

the number of participants involved in the conspiracy to deliver. CP 11. 

On January 23,2012, the case went to trial. 1124/12 RP 3.1 

1 The State will refer to the verbatim report of proceedings by using the date followed by 
"RP" and the page number. The report of proceedings in this case are as follows: 

8/16/11 RP 3.5 Hearing 
1123/12 RP Trial Day 1 (in volume with second day of trial) 
1124/12 RP Trial Day 2 (in volume with first day of trial) 
1125/12 RP Trial Day 3 
1126112 RP Trial Day 4 
1127/12 RP Trial Day 5 
2/10/12 RP Sentencing. 

3 



On January 27, 2012, the jury returned verdicts finding Mak guilty of 

Possession with Intent to Manufacture or Deliver Cocaine, Conspiracy to 

Deliver a Controlled Substance, and Maintaining a Vehicle for Drug 

Trafficking. CP 53-55. 

The jury also returned special verdicts fmding that the Possession 

with Intent to Manufacture or Deliver Cocaine and Conspiracy to Deliver a 

Controlled Substance were major violations of the uniform controlled 

substances act. CP 57, 58. 

On February 10, 2012, the trial court sentenced Mak to an 

exceptional sentence of 96 months of prison time on Possession with Intent 

to Manufacture or Deliver Cocaine and Conspiracy to Deliver a Controlled 

Substance and a standard range sentence of 20 months on Maintaining a 

Vehicle for Drug Trafficking. CP 62-3. 

On February 27, 2012, Mak timely filed a notice of appeal. CP 89-

90. 

2. Statement of Facts 

i. Summary of Trial Testimony2 

Seim Delacruz is an agent with border patrol who was working as an 

undercover officer with the Skagit County Interlocal Drug Enforcement Task 

2 Given the defense claim of sufficiency of the evidence, the State presents a detailed 
summary of the trial testimony. 
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. ' ' ... 

Force in 2011. 1124/12 RP 57, 59. Agent Delacruz worked trying to 

dismantle drug trafficking organizations by acting as a mid-level dealer. 

1124/12 RP 61. 

Delacruz became aware of a person named Jeff who wanted to 

purchase kilograms of cocaine. 1124/12 RP 61. Jeff wanted to broker a deal 

in Skagit County as it is a hub for dealing. 1124/12 RP 62. Delacruz was 

used given his Hispanic descent. 1124/12 RP 62. 

On January 26, 2011, Delacruz spoke with Jeff by phone and 

represented he was a kilo-level dealer. 1124112 RP 62. Delacruz sent Jeff a 

photograph of drugs. 1124/12 RP 64. To gain Jeff's confidence, Delacruz 

had a number of conversations with Jeff until May 20,2011. 1124/12 RP 65. 

Delacruz met with Jeff on February 10, 2012, at a restaurant in Mount 

Vernon to provide samples. 1124/12 RP 67, 68. Officers put two kilograms 

of drugs which had been seized from the border in the back of a car to show 

to Huynh. 1/24/12 RP 72-3, 92. Jeff said he was coming from Portland and 

was bringing the person who was actually going to purchase the drugs. 

1124/12 RP 68, 75. Delacruz identified the co-defendant Jeffrey Huynh in 

court as the person he met with. 1124/12 RP 67. Officers never identified 

the other person at that meeting. 1/24/12 RP 91. Delacruz met Huynh 

outside, and they went inside the restaurant. 1/24/12 RP 75. Delacruz was 

talking mostly with Huynh, but the other person was sitting across from 
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Delacruz, looking at Delacruz and not saying anything. 1/24/12 RP 76. 

Huynh asked to see the cocaine. 1/24/12 RP 76. Delacruz asked another 

officer to bring the drugs by. 1/24/12 RP 76. Huynh and the other man had 

a conversation in their native Asian language, which Delacruz could not 

understand. 1/24/12 RP 86, 107. Huynh and Delacruz went outside. 

1/24/12 RP 77. Huynh and Delacruz got inside a vehicle and Huynh was 

shown the two packages of drugs. 1/24/12 RP 77. Huynh took pictures and 

they spoke about the quality of the cocaine. 1/24/12 RP 77. After they 

returned inside, Huynh and the other man spoke again, and they told 

Delacruz they would decide about the purchase in a couple of days. 1/24/12 

RP 79-80. After the call, Delacruz complained to Hyunh about the way the 

other person conducted himself during the meeting. 1/24/12 RP 110. 

Over the next few months, Delacruz and Huynh had conversations 

about the drugs about twenty to thirty times and they arranged on prices. 

1/24/12 RP 81, 102, 1/25/12 RP 108. Huynh appeared to be working for 

three different buyers. 1/25/12 RP 150. Huynh wanted a broker's fee as part 

of the price. 1/24/12 RP 81-2. The drugs they were talking about dealing 

were of a quality to be cut before being sold to others who would then use or 

re-sell the drugs. 1/24/12 RP 80, 82. The price for the cheaper of the two 

packages was $21,000, with the broker's fee. 1/24/12 RP 81-2, 85-6. The 
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more expensive package was to be sold at $24,000 with the broker's fee. 

1124112 RP 85. 

Huynh arranged to set up a three kilogram deal in March of 2011, at 

the Burlington Haggen's store. 1125112 RP 108. Huynh had initiated the 

call, but ended up canceling the delivery. 1/25/12 RP 109. Huynh also sent 

text messages scheduling the deal. 1125/12 RP 110. Huynh told Delacruz 

the drugs were going to be sent to Canada. 1125/12 RP 110. On April 15, 

2011, Huynh started contacting Delacruz to set up a deal for a certain group. 

1126/12 RP 9. This group was the one that eventually lead up to a deal. 

1126/12 RP 9, 11. Huynh tried to arrange the deal again on April 22nd and 

May 6th, but both fell through. 1125/12 RP 113, 1126/12 RP 11-12. Huynh 

texted Delacruz on May 7th saying: 

Chino go the money squared away, having them send it to me 
to prove it, and I will send it to you to see, and if you still 
down, sorry man. 

1/26112 RP 12. Huynh appeared to be arranging the transactions to get the 

finder's fees in cash and also to get samples. 1125112 RP 167-8. On May 

17, 2012, Delacruz got a text message from Huynh to arrange a deal for 

Friday, May 29th. 

On May 20th, Huynh contacted Delacruz again between noon and 

2:00 and said that he was ready to do the deal. 1125/12 RP 115. They 

agreed on a price of $42,000 for two kilograms plus the $2,000 fee. 1125/12 
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RP 115. Delacruz was not sure it was going to happen until Huynh called 

back from Seattle indicating he was with the buyer. 1125/12 RP 116-7. 

They arranged to meet at the same restaurant. 1125/12 RP 121. Officer 

couldn't get DEA agents available so they set up other officers as 

surveillance. 1/25/12 RP 122. Delacruz wore a body wire. 1/25112 RP 125. 

Delacruz parked outside and went in to the restaurant. 1125/12 RP 125. 

Huynh and two other individuals were sitting at a table next to the bar. 

1125/12 RP 

Agent Delacruz identified Raymond Mak, one of the defendant's 

sitting in court, as one of the other individuals he met on May 20, 2012. 

1/24/12 RP 83, 126. The other individual was Mr. Lin. 1/25/12 RP 126.3 

Huynh took Delacruz outside to talk. 1/25/12 RP 126. Huynh told Delacruz 

he was getting $2,000 for each kilogram. 1125112 RP 127. Huynh also 

talked about future transactions. 1125112 RP 127. Huynh wanted to use the 

term BMW for one kilogram, Cadillac for two kilograms, and use east coast 

times for meetings. 1125/12 RP 127. Huynh indicated future buys would be 

three to five kilograms per week, every other week. 1125112 RP 127. 

Delacruz and Huynh went back inside with the other two men. 1/25112 RP 

128. At the table, Delacruz spoke with both Mak and Huynh. 1125/12 RP 

3 Agent Delacruz later found out that Lin and Mak were Chinese and Huynh was 
Vietnamese. 1126/12 RP 20 
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129. During the conversation, it appeared to Delacruz that Huynh had not 

told Mak: about the sample that Huynh was asking for because Mak: did not 

know about the sample. 1125/12 RP 156. Delacruz said he wasn't going to 

show them anything until they showed him the money. 1125112 RP 129. 

Huynh and Mak: went to the bathroom. 1125/12 RP 129. Huynh then called 

Delacruz telling him to come to the bathroom. 1125/12 RP 130. Mak: was in 

the bathroom with Huynh, when Huynh pulled up his jacket sleeve and 

showed Delacruz bundles of $100 bills stacked together. 1125112 RP 130. 

Photographs of the money bundled in amounts easier to count were admitted 

at trial. 1125112 RP 130-2. Mak: wanted to see the cocaine. 1125112 RP 132-

3. At that point, Delacruz had just Mak: accompany him outside the 

restaurant and took him to the vehicle in which the cocaine was stored. 

1125/12 RP 134. Delacruz opened the trunk and Mak: opened the bag, 

reached in and grabbed the kilo on top and looked at it. 1125/12 RP 134. 

Delacruz also showed Mak: the sample. 1125/12 RP 134. Mak: did not know 

anything about the sample. 1126/12 RP 24. 

During the walk to the vehicle and the walk back inside, Mak: and 

Delacruz talked about Mak: wanting to buy more. 1/25/12 RP 135. Mak: said 

he wanted to purchase ten kilograms in the future. 1125112 RP 135, 1126/12 

RP 41-2. Mak: said he and his brother were into moving all types of drugs 

and they talked about future deals. 1125112 RP 135, 138, 1126112 RP 40. 
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Delacruz gave Mak his number so they could deal directly without the 

middleman. 1125/12 RP 135, 139. Mak's brother called concerned about the 

deal and getting a sample. 1/25112 RP 136. Mak told his brother he had 

sampled it. 1125112 RP 136. Outside Mak pointed to his car, a BMW, which 

was parked in the lot in the first stall. 1125/12 RP 136. They walked back 

inside the restaurant. 1/25/12 RP 136. They agreed to do the deal. 1/25/12 

RP 140. Delacruz tried to get Huynh not to be present but Huynh insisted on 

being there. 1/25/12 RP 141. 

They exited the restaurant to Delacruz's vehicle with Huynh as the 

front passenger and Mak seated behind Delacruz. 1125112 RP 141-2. Huynh 

brought out the jacket with the money. 1/25112 RP 142. Delacruz drove 

around the lot to the back. 1125/12 RP 142-3. Mak said he wanted his 

cocaine and they again showed Delacruz the money offering him to count it. 

1125/12 RP 143. Delacruz said he would not. 1125112 RP 143. Delacruz 

told Mak he would pop the trunk so Mak could grab the cocaine and go. 

1125112 RP 143. Huynh handed Delacruz the money. 1125/12 RP 144. 

Delacruz popped the trunk, and Mak got out. 1/25/12 RP 143. Mak took the 

bag with cocaine, closed the trunk and walked away. 1125/12 RP 144, 186. 

Huynh told Delacruz he wanted the $2,000, so Delacruz took $2,000 from 

the bundle and counted it out to Hyunh to get him to leave. 1125/12 RP 144. 

Once Huynh left, and Delacruz saw Mak walking north. 1125112 RP 144. 
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Delacruz then saw Makin his BMW exiting the restaurant. 1/25/12 RP 144. 

Delacruz saw a commotion behind him believing Lin and Huynh had been 

arrested but Mak was getting away. 1/25/12 RP 144. Delacruz notified two 

officers who pulled over Mak to arrest him. 1125/12 RP 144. Delacruz and 

Detective Dave Floyd later counted out the money and determined there was 

$42,000 and the commission of $2,000 given to Huynh. 1/25/12 RP 146. 

Delacruz also saw the bag which had been in his car in the back ofMak's car 

after Mak was stopped and the trunk to his vehicle opened. 1/25/12 RP 186, 

188. 

Agent Samuel Rodriguez was a border patrol agent who was also 

detailed to work for the drug enforcement agency as an undercover officer. 

1124/12 RP 121. On February 10, 2012, Rodriguez assisted in the operation 

to show a buyer two kilograms of drugs. 1124/12 RP 124-5. Rodriguez was 

the driver who dropped off Delacruz and brought the drugs to the back of the 

building to show the buyer. 1/24/12 RP 124-6. 

Agent Jason Webber was a drug enforcement agency investigator in 

from the Bellingham office who worked in the Whatcom and Skagit County 

areas. 1/24112 RP 137-8. Webber had checked subscriber information for a 

pre-paid phone number and it returned to a Jeffrey Huynh. 1124/12 RP 141. 

Webber learned of a Portland address and photograph for Huynh from the 

Oregon Department of Licensing. 1124112 RP 141-2, 152. On February 10, 
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2011, Webber worked surveillance and saw a tan Toyota vehicle pull into 

the parking lot and the occupants meet with Delacruz. 1124112 RP 142, 153. 

After the viewing, Webber assisted in following the vehicle on Interstate 5 

and Interstate 405, all the way towards Renton. 1/24/12 RP 144. In the 

Renton area, the vehicle did evasive driving maneuvers including a U-turn 

suggesting the vehicle was engaging in counter-surveillance to determine if 

it was being followed. 1124/12 RP 145, 156. Surveillance was lost in the 

Renton area. 1124/12 RP 156. 

Agent Belanger was a Washington State Patrol Detective working 

with the Drug Enforcement Agency, who assisted in surveillance on 

February 10, 2011. 1125/12 RP 3, 6. Belanger had a residence location for 

Jeffrey Huynh in Oregon and had surveillance set up to identify when he left 

Portland. 1125/12 RP 7-8. Surveillance lost track of the vehicle when it left 

the interstate from Portland. 1125/12 RP 8. Belanger saw the Camry driven 

by Huynh as it approached the restaurant from the freeway. 1/25/12 RP 9-

10. Belanger maintained surveillance until the vehicle with Huynh and an 

Asian male passenger left the restaurant. 1125/12 RP 11-4. 

Belanger also testified about his experience with dealings in 

kilograms of cocaine. 1125/12 RP 15. He testified that it is standard to 

charge a commission of about $500, but that it can go up to $2,000. 1125112 

RP 15. Belanger testified that the stamps on the cocaine shown to Huynh, 
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show the region or organization where it was produced. 1125/12 RP 16-7. 

The stamps are similar to a brand. 1125112 RP 17-8. Belanger testified that a 

kilogram of cocaine with purity above 80 percent is considered pure. 

1/25112 RP 19. As the cocaine moves along the distribution chain the purity 

is reduced as the cocaine is reprocessed or manufactured by cutting with 

other powdered products down to a purity of 5 to 15 percent for users. 

1125/12 RP 18-21, 28. Belanger testified that Skagit County is a hub for 

dealing and a kilogram worth $21,000, in Skagit County would be worth 

$30,000 to $45,000 in Canada. 1125/12 RP 25. Belanger testified that 

ounces of cocaine are usually sold locally for $700 to $800. 1125112 RP 27. 

Belanger calculated the weight and cutting of the two kilograms to be sold 

two to three times to determine a weight at the ounce level. 1125/12 RP 29-

30. At the ounce level, the value would be $56,400 at $800 an ounce and 

$49,350 at $700 an ounce. 1125/12 RP 30. If stepped on again, the two 

kilograms would be valued at $112,800, to $98,700 based upon local price. 

1125/12 RP 30-1. The kilogram represented enough for 8,000 doses for 

users. 1125/12 RP 32. 

Detective Dave Floyd of the Skagit County Interlocal Drug 

Enforcement Unit testified being an undercover officer who assisted in the 

viewing arranged for February 10, 2011. 1125/12 RP 91-3. Floyd assisted 

Delacruz in arranging the two kilograms of cocaine to be viewed. 1125112 
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RP 93-4. Floyd also provided surveillance monitoring a body wire worn by 

Delacruz. 1/25/12 RP 95-6. Floyd testified the discussion on the wire dealt

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